# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has accepted conflict jurisdiction over this case based on conflicts with the decisions of this Court in <u>University of Miami v. Bogorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla., 1991), <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla., 1990), and <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla., 1976).

## **THE PARTIES**

This brief is filed on behalf of the Defendants/Petitioners, ORLANDO REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC., and ARNOLD LAZAR, M.D.. The Plaintiffs/Respondents are GREGORY ALLEN, a minor, by and through his parent and guardian, SANDRA ELIZABETH ALLEN, and SANDRA ELIZABETH ALLEN, individually. The Respondents will sometimes hereinafter be referred to individually as "Gregory Allen" and "Sandra Allen."

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioners are before this Court pursuant to this Court's acceptance of conflict jurisdiction over this case from the Fifth District Court of Appeal as the District Court's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>University of Miami v. Bogorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla., 1991), <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla., 1990), and <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla., 1976).

This is an appeal from a final order of the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversing summary final judgment in favor of Petitioners granted upon the grounds that the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice case had expired prior to the filing of Respondents' Notices of Intention to Initiate Litigation.

The Respondents, pursuant to filing the original suit to recover damages resulting from the alleged negligent care and treatment provided by the Petitioners to Gregory Allen during and after his birth on November 5, 1983 at Orlando Regional Medical Center, served on the Petitioners the statutorily required Notices of Intention to Initiate Litigation on October 5, 1987; three (3) years and eleven (11) months after the birth of Gregory Allen. The Respondents filed their complaint in the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, In and For Orange County, Florida on February 19, 1988.

On July 19, 1991, the Petitioners filed a motion for summary judgment alleging the expiration of the medical malpractice statute of limitations time period prior to Respondents serving the Notices of Intent to Initiate Litigation. The trial court granted a motion for summary judgment in favor of Petitioners holding that there was no genuine issue of material fact due to the fact that Respondents knew of Gregory Allen's injury more than two

years prior to the Respondents filing of the Notices of Intent to Initiate Litigation. The trial court entered a Final Order of Dismissal with Prejudice on September 19, 1991, pursuant to the granting of summary judgment in favor of Petitioners. The Respondents appealed.

By its Order filed on September 18, 1992, the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, reversed the Final Order of Dismissal with Prejudice entered by the trial court. The District Court's reasoning was two-fold. First, the District Court could not rule that, as a matter of law, the medical malpractice statute of limitations commenced to run when Sandra Allen was informed that her newborn son, Gregory Allen, had suffered a brain hemorrhage absent the knowledge that this injury was or could have been caused by medical negligence. Second, a genuine issue of material fact existed in this case regarding whether the Petitioners knew, or should have known through efficient diagnosis, of the cause of the physical injury Gregory Allen suffered, but failed to inform Sandra Allen, and thereby kept her in ignorance, thus tolling the commencement of the statute of limitations period.

Petitioners' Notice to Invoke the Jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on October 13, 1992. This Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with the Oral Argument on January 25, 1993. References to the record below shall be noted by the letter "R" and the page number from the record.

## STATEMENT OF FACIS

On November 5, 1983, Sandra Allen was admitted to ORMC in active labor. In the early afternoon of November 5, 1983, the delivering physician, Petitioner, Dr. Arnold Lazar, delivered a baby boy, Gregory Allen. The initial impression, as set forth in the ORMC Patient Records, was that the baby was premature, having a thirty-two week gestation period, and was found to have suffered from perinatal asphyxia, RDS vs. pneumonia, and hypovolemia. (R. 281) Subsequent to this delivery, neonatal care was provided to Gregory Allen by ORMC (R. 606-607).

Within the first few days after his birth, Gregory Allen developed a hemorrhage in the brain. As a result of the hemorrhage, Gregory Allen has suffered brain damage, which has caused deficits in Gregory Allen's physical and mental development. (R. 281) Shortly after its occurrence, Sandra Allen was informed of the brain hemorrhage suffered by Gregory Allen. (R. 607) The Respondents alleged in their complaint that the Petitioner, Dr. Arnold Lazar, failed to adequately monitor and provide the necessary medical treatment to the fetus during labor and delivery. (R. 284-287) The Respondents also alleged that Petitioner, ORMC, failed to monitor the fetal heart tones according to applicable standard medical care, failed to properly monitor the fetus by electronic fetal heart monitors, and failed to properly intubate Gregory Allen during the first hours of life. (R. 287-289) In their answer to Respondents' complaint, Petitioners, ORMC and Dr. Lazar, denied any negligence on their part pursuant to the care and treatment of Gregory Allen.

The Petitioners claim that in the Spring of 1986, at a seminar sponsored by the Cerebral Palsy Association, Sandra Allen learned for the first time that Gregory Allen's birth

defects may have been caused by the negligent acts of his health care providers at or around the time of his birth. (R. 607) On October 5, 1987, three (3) years and eleven (11) months after the birth of Gregory Allen, (R. 281) and well past the two (2) year statute of limitations established by F.S. §95.11(4)(b)(1988), the Respondents mailed their Notices of Intent to Initiate Litigation for malpractice to the Petitioners.

The Respondents, in their complaints and Appellate briefs, state that Sandra Allen inquired of her health care providers as to the cause of Gregory Allen's brain hemorrhage and was informed that the hemorrhage occurred because the child was born premature. (R. The Respondents argue that the providing of this information tolled the above referenced statute of limitations until Sandra Allen became aware in the Spring of 1986 that procedures performed by the Petitioners pursuant to the care of Gregory Allen could have caused or intensified Gregory Allen's injury. The Respondents claim that this tolling occurred as a result of alleged misrepresentation or intentional failure of Dr. Lazar and ORMC's physicians and representatives to disclose to Sandra Allen the cause of Gregory Allen's brain hemorrhage (R. 611). The Respondents allege that because Sandra Allen relied on the representations of Gregory's health care providers that his brain hemorrhage occurred due to prematurity, she did not know, nor had reason to know: (i) that birth defects could be caused by negligence of health care providers; (ii) that Gregory's birth defects were caused by negligence of his health care providers at and after his birth, or (iii) suspect an injury, other than a natural process of impaired development due to a brain hemorrhage, caused by premature birth. (R. 607)

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Petitioners respectfully submit that the Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in reversing the trial court's granting of Petitioners' motion for summary judgment pursuant to the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations. The agreed upon facts established that Respondent, Sandra Allen, was informed by her health care providers that her son, Respondent Gregory Allen, had suffered an injury, specifically a brain hemorrhage, within the first few days of his life. Sandra Allen was provided this information shortly after the injury occurred.

This Court in Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976) established that the medical malpractice statute of limitations commences when the Plaintiffs knew of should have known that either an injury or negligence occurred. Therefore, the Nardone rule requires knowledge of only one of two critical factors, injury or negligence, to trigger the commencement of the statute of limitations. It does not require knowledge of both.

This principle has been reaffirmed by this Court's recent decisions in <u>University of Miami v. Bogorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991) and <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990). In <u>Bogorff</u> this Court held that "the limitation period commences when the plaintiff should have known of either (1) the injury or (2) the negligent act." This Court specifically stated that "the triggering event for the limitation period was Bogorff's notice of injury to their child." <u>Bogorff</u>, at 1002. In <u>Barron</u>, this Court again held that the statute of limitations pursuant to a medical malpractice cause of action began to run when the injury was known by the plaintiff.

In rendering its decision in the instant case, the Fifth District has instituted the additional requirement that a plaintiff have knowledge or should have had knowledge of both the injury and the fact that the injury was the result of a negligent act before the medical malpractice statute of limitation commences to run. This is the precise legal principle which this Court in Nardone, Barron, and Bogorff continually refused to accept.

The Petitioners respectfully submit that pursuant to F.S. §95.11(4)(b)(1988) and established Florida case law, the statute of limitations was triggered in late 1983 when Sandra Allen was informed of the brain hemorrhage and expired in late 1985, one (1) year and eleven (11) months prior to Respondents mailing their Notices of Intention to Initiate Litigation for medical malpractice and therefore, the trial court was correct in dismissing this action with prejudice.

The Petitioners also respectfully submit that the Fifth District erred in ruling that an issue of material fact existed regarding the Petitioners' alleged fraudulent or negligent concealment of possible causes of the brain hemorrhage suffered by Gregory Allen.

In the second amended complaint filed by the Respondents in this matter, it is alleged that the Petitioners represented to Respondents that Gregory Allen's injuries were residuals of normal events. The Respondents elaborated on this allegation in their Appellate briefs by stating that when Sandra Allen inquired of her health care providers as to the cause of the hemorrhage, she was told that the hemorrhage occurred because Gregory Allen was born premature. The Respondents contend that these representations constituted fraudulent concealment of possible causes of the injury, thus tolling the commencement of the statute of limitations.

The Respondents argued before the Fifth District that the Petitioners had an obligation not only to inform the Respondents of the injury, but to speculate as to each and every <u>possible</u> cause of the injury and inform the Respondents of the same in order to avoid intentional concealment or negligent failure to inform which, in turn, tolls the running of the statute of limitations.

As in the first issue, the seminal Florida case addressing this argument is Nardone v. Reynolds, supra. This Court considered the same question of whether the alleged malpractitioners are required to disclose all possible causes of the injury. This Court held that the medical practitioner has a duty to disclose known facts and not conjecture and speculation as to possibilities. The Court stated that there is no duty imposed on the physician to relate all merely possible or likely causes of the injury.

As there is no evidence in the records that the Petitioners knew the cause of the hemorrhage, the Petitioners submit that a court is unable to place a duty on the part of the Petitioners to inform the Respondents of all possible causes of the injury, and therefore, is unable as a matter of law, to find that concealment on the part of the Petitioners occurred.

As additional support for its position, Petitioners submit that the Florida courts continue to reaffirm the holding that the determining factor as to when the statute of limitations has commenced to run is based on whether plaintiff has notice of the existence of any injury, or notice of a negligent act. In <u>Vargas v. Glades General Hospital</u>, 566 So.2d 282 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1990), the Court held that as the plaintiffs were aware of the injuries suffered by their child, there could not have existed any concealment of the injury by the

defendant and thus the running of the statute of limitations commenced to run when the plaintiffs became aware of the injury.

These decisions make it clear that when a plaintiff is made aware of the injury, as a matter of law, no fraudulent concealment or negligent failure to disclose facts can be found to exist.

#### **POINTS ON APPEAL**

#### POINTS ON APPEAL

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. WHETHER THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD IN HOLDING THAT RESPONDENTS KNOWLEDGE OF AN INJURY DOES NOT NECESSARILY TRIGGER THE RUNNING OF THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS
- II. WHETHER THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT IT WAS A QUESTION OF FACT AS TO WHETHER THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS TOLLED BECAUSE OF EITHER THE INTENTIONAL CONCEALMENT OR NEGLIGENT FAILURE OF PETITIONERS TO INFORM RESPONDENT, SANDRA ALLEN, THAT GREGORY ALLEN'S CONDITION COULD HAVE RESULTED FROM A CAUSE OTHER THAN HIS PREMATURE BIRTH

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUES**

I. WHETHER THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD IN HOLDING THAT RESPONDENTS KNOWLEDGE OF AN INJURY DOES NOT NECESSARY TRIGGER THE RUNNING OF THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The applicable statute of limitations governing this action is set forth in F.S. §95.11(4)(b)(1988) which provides:

"An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within 2 years from the time the <u>incident</u> giving rise to the action occurred or within 2 years from the time the <u>incident</u> is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; however, in no event shall the action be commenced later than 4 years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of action accrued. ... In those actions covered by this paragraph in which it can be shown that fraud, concealment, or intentional misrepresentation of fact prevented the <u>discovery of the injury</u> within the 4-year period, the period of limitations is extended forward 2 years from the time that the <u>injury</u> is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, but in no event to exceed 7 years from the date the incident giving rise to the <u>injury</u> occurred. (Emphasis added)

In their complaint, their filed memorandum in opposition to Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment, and their Appellate brief, Respondents admit that Sandra Allen knew of the injury which gives rise to this malpractice action shortly after the injury occurred. In each of the above referenced documents, the Respondents state that Sandra Allen was informed by her health care providers, the Petitioners in this action, that Gregory Allen had suffered a brain hemorrhage.

The case law in Florida establishes that the receipt of information that an injury has occurred triggers the statute of limitations pursuant to bringing a medical malpractice action

for damages resulting from the injury. In the seminal case of Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), this Court considered the issue of when the medical malpractice statute of limitations begins to run. This Court held that the statute of limitations commences when the Plaintiffs knew or should have known that either an injury or negligence occurred. Therefore, the Nardone rule requires knowledge of only one of two critical factors, injury or negligence, to trigger the commencement of the statute of limitations. It does not require knowledge of both.

This principle has been reaffirmed by this Court's recent decisions in <u>University of Miami v. Bogorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991) and <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990). In <u>Bogorff</u>, this Court held that "the limitation period commences when the plaintiff should have known of either (1) the injury or (2) the negligent act." This Court stated specifically that "the triggering event for the limitation period was Bogorff's notice of injury to their child." <u>Bogorff</u>, at 1002. In <u>Barron</u>, this Court cites as precedent <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u> supra. and again held that the statute of limitations pursuant to a medical malpractice cause of action began to run when the injury was known by the plaintiff. In each of these decisions, this Court expressly <u>rejected</u> the argument that knowledge of a physical injury, without knowledge that it resulted from a negligent act, did not trigger the statute of limitations.

However, in rendering its decision in the instant case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has instituted the additional requirement that a plaintiff have knowledge or should have had knowledge of <u>both</u> the injury and the fact that the injury was the result of a negligent act before the medical malpractice statute of limitation commences to run. The

Fifth District relied on a prior decision it handed down on these same issues, Norsworthy v. Holmes Regional Medical Center, 598 So.2d 105, (Fla. 5th DCA, 1992) in reversing the Trial Court's summary judgment. Petitioners respectfully submit that the Fifth District interpreted the opinion of the above cited Barron and Bogorff cases erroneously, and by applying this erroneous interpretation to the facts of the instant matter, erred in reversing the summary judgment entered by the Trial Court pursuant to the statute of limitations defense.

As stated in its opinion in <u>Norsworthy</u>, the Fifth District believed this Court's rulings in the Bogorff and Barron cases:

"... simply stand for the proposition that when the nature of the bodily damage that occurs during medical treatment is such that, in and of itself, it communicates the possibility of medical negligence, then the statute of limitations begins to run. On the other hand, if there is nothing about an injury that would communicate to a reasonable lay person that the injury is more likely a result of some failure of medical care than a natural occurrence that can arise in the absence of medical negligence, the knowledge of the injury itself does not necessarily trigger the running of the statute of limitations."

# Norsworthy, 598 So.2d at 107.

In the opinion handed down in this matter, the Fifth District emphasized that it did not believe the Supreme Court in <u>Barron</u> intended to say that the knowledge of physical injury alone will always trigger the statute of limitations, but rather merely meant:

"... it is erroneous to suppose that knowledge of injury alone cannot trigger the statute. Some injuries, as in <u>Nardone</u>, <u>Barron</u> and <u>Bogorff</u>, speak for themselves and supply notice of a possible invasion of legal rights." <u>Norsworthy</u>, 598 So.2d at 108.

Allen v. Orlando Regional Medical Center, 606 So.2d 665, 667 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1992) The Fifth District reasoned in the decision handed down pursuant to the instant matter:

The injuries alleged to have been sustained by Gregory Allen do not appear to "speak for themselves" or to suggest that his "injury" was the "result of anything other than natural consequences of a recognized medical treatment competently performed. Norsworthy, 598 at 108."

Allen, at 667. The Court continued on to state that the Respondents alleged in their complaint and Appellate brief that the Petitioners represented to the Respondents that Gregory Allen's injuries "were residuals of normal events," the result of his premature birth and that the Respondents did not know and apparently were not told by Petitioners that cerebral palsy may be caused by the negligence of health care providers. Therefore, the Fifth District found that the summary judgment must be reversed as there remained a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Sandra Allen knew or should have known that Gregory Allen's injuries may have been caused by a negligent act on the part of the Petitioners. The Fifth District, in rendering this decision, imposes upon the standard established in Nardone, Barron, and Bogorff the additional requirement that the injury must communicate an inference of medical negligence in order to trigger the statute of limitations. This is the precise legal principle which this Court in Nardone, Barron, and Bogorff continually refused to accept.

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