FILED
SID J. WHITE

MAR 15 1993

SLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ORLANDO REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, and ARNOLD LAZAR, M.D.,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO. 80,646

5 DCA Case No.: 91-02333

GREGORY ALLEN, through his mother SANDRA ELIZABETH ALLEN, and SANDRA ELIZABETH ALLEN individually,

Respondents,

## RESPONDENTS! BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Submitted by Counsel for Respondents:

Martin Trpis
7701 Woodmont Avenue
Suite 408
Bethesda, Maryland 20814
(301) 258-1994
Admitted pro hac vice
in Circuit Court and by
Order for Special Admission of
Out-of-State Attorney in 5 DCA

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners' contention that Respondents were on notice of an injury when Gregory Allen developed a brain hemorrhage is erroneous. When a plaintiff reasonably relies on an explanation that a medical condition is a result of natural causes, plaintiff is not on notice of an injury, until she has reason to suspect that the condition may have been caused by a negligent act, Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985); Allen v. Orlando Regional Medical Center, 606 So.2d 665 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Norsworthy v. Holmes Regional Medical Center, 598 So.2d 105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Roberts v. Casey, 413 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Brooks v. Cerrato, 355 So.2d 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) cert. denied 361 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1978).

Given the Petitioners' explanation to Sandra Allen that her son's brain hemorrhage was caused by natural causes of premature birth, Respondents did not know, nor had reason to know, that the brain hemorrhage was caused by a negligent act. The statute of limitations was tolled until Spring of 1986, when Sandra Allen learned for the first time that birth-related injuries, such as brain hemorrhages and cerebral palsy, may be caused by health care providers at birth.

Petitioners also contend that because Sandra Allen knew of the brain hemorrhage, it was impossible for Petitioners to fraudulently conceal the injury. Since the knowledge that a brain hemorrhage has occurred does not coincide with being put on notice of an injury per Moore, Allen, Norsworthy, Roberts and <u>Brooks</u> Petitioners' conclusion cannot stand. above, Petitioners' fraudulent concealment of the injury, its causes, or simply Petitioners' failure to reveal their knowledge of the incidents or mishaps in medical care which occurred as a result of the Petitioners' negligence during the labor, delivery and neonatal period of Gregory Allen resulted in tolling of the statute of limitations until Spring of 1986. Tetstone v. Adams, 373 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Almengor v. Dade County, 359 So.2d 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Nardone v. Reynolds, 538 F.2d 1131 Therefore, Respondents respectfully submit, (5th Cir. 1976) the case was timely filed within two years of the discovery and less than four years from the date of the incidents giving rise to the cause of action.

Whether it was reasonable for Sandra Allen to rely on representations by Petitioners that her son's brain hemorrhage was from natural causes, and whether Petitioners fraudulently concealed the injury when they failed to disclose to Sandra Allen facts about mishaps occurring in her son's and her medical care during and following the birth of Gregory Allen, are questions of fact properly submissible to a jury. Therefore, Respondents respectfully request that this Court uphold the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case.

I. DOES AN INDIVIDUAL HAVE NOTICE OF AN INJURY WHEN SHE REASONABLY BELIEVES THAT A MEDICAL CONDITION IS THE RESULT OF NATURAL CAUSES?

No. When a plaintiff reasonably relies on an explanation that a medical condition is a result of natural causes, plaintiff is not on notice of an injury.

Florida courts have consistently held that in certain situations, a plaintiff is not on notice of an injury, when there exist alternative explanations of the causes of the injury. Specifically, if plaintiff is only aware of the possible natural causes, of a medical condition that was actually caused by negligence of a health care provider, and there is nothing about the medical condition that suggests that there was medical negligence or an injury caused by medical negligence, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until plaintiff is able to discover the negligence. Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985)

In <u>Moore</u>, an emergency situation during a delivery of a normal pregnancy required a Caesarean delivery. The parents were on notice that while in the womb the baby had swallowed something which had the effect of restricting its breathing and they were told by one of the doctors that the baby was not expected to live. This Court held, <u>Id</u>. at 668, that

There is nothing about these facts which leads conclusively and inescapably to only one conclusion--that there was negligence or injury caused by negligence. To the contrary, facts totally these are consistent with serious life a or

threatening situation which arose through natural causes during an operation. Serious medical circumstances arise daily in the practice of medicine and because they are so common in human experience, they cannot, without more, be deemed to impute notice of negligence or injury caused by negligence.

In Norsworthy v. Holmes Regional Medical Center, 598 So.2d 105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), a child experiencing difficulty breathing as a result of croup, was hospitalized and treated by intubation and later by a tracheostomy. After he was released from the hospital, the child still experienced difficulty breathing. It was not until several years later that a physician reviewing his records determined that the breathing difficulties which the child experienced after discharge from the hospital were the result of negligently administered intubations. The court in Norsworthy, at 108 held

Even if the Norsworthys were aware that the initial cause of the closure of the airway was different from the subsequent cause, and if they knew that subglottic stenosis could result from intubation, there is little, if anything in this record to suggest that the "injury" was the result of anything other than natural consequences of a recognized medical treatment competently performed.

In <u>Roberts v. Casey</u>, 413 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) an infant plaintiff was admitted to a hospital on April 5, 1977 with diagnosis of bacterial meningitis. <u>At the end of April 1977</u> plaintiff's mother was told by a physician that the infant may have contracted the meningitis at the hospital. The court held that the statute of limitations began to run against the

health care providers in late April 1977, when the appellants therein discovered that their child's condition may have been caused by a negligent act. <u>Id.</u> at 1229.

In <u>Brooks v. Cerrato</u>, 355 So.2d 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) cert. denied 361 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1978), plaintiff woke up from an operation, her arm hurt, and she could not lift it. She attributed the paralysis to an expected general physical weakness after surgery. It was not until later that she was held to have knowledge of her injury. This occurred when she was told by another doctor that she could not use her arm because of a damaged nerve in her neck.

In <u>Moore</u>, <u>Norsworthy</u>, <u>Roberts</u>, <u>Brooks</u> and in the case under review, the court ruled that plaintiffs did not have knowledge of an injury, even though a condition of a health defect was apparent to them, when there existed in the plaintiff's mind an explanation of the condition in terms of natural causes, not implicating negligence by their health care providers. In these cases the court held plaintiffs were put on notice of the injury when they learned that negligence of health care providers may have caused the condition.

Petitioners claim the cause of action in this case was properly barred by the trial court as it was filed more than two years after the Respondents discovered the brain hemorrhage in Gregory Allen, which, the Petitioners claim, commenced the running of the two year statute of limitations. This conclusion by the Petitioners is erroneous.

In support of their argument, Petitioners rely on this Court's decisions in <u>University of Miami v. Bogorff, et al.</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991); <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), holding that plaintiffs' discovery of the injury was sufficient to begin the running of the statute of limitations. Each of these cases is easily distinguishable on the facts from the case under review.

In <u>Bogorff</u>, <u>Barron</u>, and <u>Nardone</u>, the plaintiffs were, by the very nature of the injuries suffered, placed on notice that something very unexpected, untoward, something other than a natural process, caused the injury.

In <u>Bogorff</u> a child suffering from leukemia which was in remission became severely brain injured and quadriplegic after receiving treatment with a drug injected into his spine. In <u>Barron</u> the patient went in for a colon surgery and came out blind. In <u>Nardone</u> an adolescent suffering from vision problems and headaches underwent several brain surgeries and showed very significant improvement. Then he underwent a diagnostic test involving injection of a dye into the ventricles of the brain which rendered him irreversibly brain damaged, blind and comatose.

In the <u>Allen</u> case the prematurely born Gregory Allen experienced difficulty breathing and developed a brain hemorrhage shortly after he was born. When Sandra Allen

inquired about the cause of the brain hemorrhage, she was told by Gregory's and her health care providers that the brain hemorrhage was from natural causes of Gregory's premature birth.

Petitioners argue that <u>Nardone</u>, <u>Barron</u>, and <u>Bogorff</u> are dispositive of Respondents' argument that Respondents were not on notice of the injury until they learned that negligence of health care providers may have caused the condition. Petitioners advocate very broad application of the law which this Court applied only in those situations where the nature of the injury itself strongly suggested possibility of negligence by a health care provider.

If the law failed to distinguish between that class of cases and the case under review, the practical result would be The application of principles stated in Nardone, and Bogorff, to all cases, as advocated by the Petitioner, would result in all but eliminating the delayed discovery provision of Section 95.11(4)(b) Fla. Stat. (1988). Furthermore, it would give the patient little if any incentive to believe what her health care provider tells her about a medical condition, procedure or treatment. The health care provider would also have little if any incentive to disclose to about complications which were patient information encountered during the course of diagnosis and treatment. Furthermore, a careful consumer would have every health care procedure which yielded less than optimum result evaluated by an independent consultant for possibility of negligence. This state of the law would seriously erode the physician-patient relationship and would render virtually impossible the delivery of quality health care in the State of Florida.

II. POSSIBLE FOR A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER FRAUDULENTLY CONCEAL ITS NEGLIGENCE BY FAILING Α **PERFORMED** INFORM THE PATIENT OF NEGLIGENTLY PROCEDURE AND THE CORRECTIVE MEASURES TAKEN AFTER DISCOVERING THE DELETERIOUS EFFECTS OF THE NEGLIGENCE, AND BY INFORMING THE PATIENT THAT THE RESULTING MEDICAL CONDITION IS THE RESULT OF NATURAL CAUSES?

Yes. Fraudulent concealment of the injury by Petitioners, and/or their failure to reveal to Respondent their knowledge of the cause of Gregory Allen's condition, resulted in tolling the statute of limitations until Spring of 1986.

When the health care provider reveals to plaintiff or discusses with plaintiff only natural causes of the injury but fails to mention any iatrogenic (physician-caused) causes of injury known to the health care provider or discoverable by him through efficient diagnosis relating to the nature and/or the cause of the plaintiff's condition, plaintiff is not charged with the knowledge of the injury, and the statute of limitations does not begin to run until plaintiff is able to discover the negligence. Tetstone v. Adams, 373 So.2d 362, 364 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), Almengor v. Dade County, 359 So.2d 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978)

In <u>Tetstone</u> plaintiff's history of abdominal pains and various surgical operations and her claim of suggestion made by a health care provider that her injury was due to natural causes

of the ureter spontaneously growing together, led the court therein to conclude that the issue regarding the statute of limitations was not a proper subject for summary judgment. <u>Id.</u> at 364.

In Almengor v. Dade County, 359 So.2d 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), involving allegations of negligent delivery and care of a baby resulting in severe brain damage, and allegations of active concealment or failure to inform plaintiff of the baby's injury, the court reversed and remanded for further proceedings the trial court's entry of final summary judgment for defendant hospital on the ground that the action was barred by then applicable four year statute of limitations. The court held:

The Plaintiff is not on notice, however, as to either the negligent act or the injury caused thereby where he has no actual knowledge of either fact because (1) the medical defendant or his employee, servant or agent actively engages in concealment against the plaintiff so as to prevent inquiry or elude investigation or mislead the plaintiff relating to the existence of the cause of action, or (2) the medical defendant-physician the ordefendant through his employee/servant/ agent-physician fails to reveal to the plaintiff facts [as distinguished from mere possibilities or conjecture] known to, or available to such physician by efficient diagnosis, relating to the nature and/or cause of the plaintiff's adverse physical condition. The statute is tolled upon the happening of either of the above two events.

Id. at 894, emphasis added.

In reaching its decision the Court stated:

There is some evidence in the record that during the time the plaintiff was aware or

should have been aware that the baby was born mentally retarded and thereafter showed signs of mental retardation and abnormal development. We do not believe, however, that this evidence put the plaintiff on notice as a matter of law that the baby was injured during birth, because such evidence just as reasonably could have meant that the baby had been born with a congenital defect without any birth trauma.

Id.

Respondent Sandra Allen was never told by Petitioner health care providers that her Gregory was injured as a result of health care providers actions during and shortly after his birth. Nor was Sandra Allen informed about various mishaps which occurred during the labor, delivery and neonatal period, including, but not limited to, the fact that Gregory was misintubated for approximately 45 minutes causing high amounts of carbon dioxide gas to accumulate in Gregory's blood, which is recognized as a cause of fluctuating blood supply to the brain, often leading to development of bleeding in the brain, especially in premature infants who have experienced a difficult birth.

When Petitioners discovered that they improperly intubated Gregory, they took action to correct the defective intubation, but never communicated this fact to Sandra Allen. On pages 9 and 10 of their Answer Brief which the Petitioners filed in the District Court, the Petitioners stated: "Ms. Allen was informed by her health care providers, the Appellees in this action, that Gregory Allen had suffered a brain hemorrhage which was a natural cause of his premature birth." This statement was left

out of the Petitioner's Statement of Facts herein, but it is very relevant to the issues under consideration.

"... [W]hen defendants actively misrepresent or conceal their negligence, or conceal known facts relating to the cause of the injury, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until plaintiff is able to discover the negligence." Menendez v. Public Health Trust, 566 So.2d 279, 281 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) approved, 584 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1991), citing Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), Almengor v. Dade County, 359 So.2d 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), Buck v. Mouradian, 100 So.2d 70 (Fla. 3d DCA) cert. denied 104 So.2d 592 (Fla. 1958). Petitioners knew that Gregory Allen had been improperly intubated for a period of approximately 45 minutes, yet failed to disclose this fact to Sandra Allen, when she inquired about the causes of her son Gregory's brain hemorrhage. Therefore, the statute of limitations did not begin to run until plaintiff learned in Spring of 1986 that Gregory's condition may have been caused by negligence of his health care providers.

Sandra Allen knew of her son's brain hemorrhage shortly after his birth, however, as a 19 year old single mother, she did not know, nor had reason to know that a brain hemorrhage in a premature neonate could be caused by anything other than what she was told by her health care providers, i.e., the baby's premature birth.

On page 26 of the Petitioners' Brief on the Merits, Petitioners argue that Sandra Allen could have discovered the possible alternative causes of her son Gregory's brain hemorrhage by obtaining and reviewing Gregory's medical records.

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